# DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE



IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

At Charleston

Case No. 21-0313

#### **GREGORY S. BRADLEY and JUDY JOHNSON BRADLEY,**

# FILE COPY

PETITIONERS,

VS.

ANDREA DALE DYE, ET AL.,

**RESPONDENTS.** 

# MARION CO. CIVIL ACTION CC-24-2018-C-110 (HON. PATRICK N. WILSON, CIRCUIT JUDGE)

# **PETITIONERS' BRIEF**

JOHN R. ANGOTTI, ESQUIRE (#5068) DAVID J. STRAFACE, ESQUIRE (#3634) CHAD C. GROOME, ESQUIRE (#9810) ANGOTTI & STRAFACE, LC 274 Spruce Street Morgantown, WV 26505 Phone: (304) 292-4381 Facsimile: (304) 292-7775 johnangotti@angottistrafacelaw.com djstraface@angottistrafacelaw.com chadgroome@angottistrafacelaw.com Of Counsel for Petitioners

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court of Marion County erred when it granted summary judgment in favor of Respondent Dye on the Petitioners' claim of timber piracy, pursuant to W.Va. Code § 61-3-48a, insofar as it found that Respondent Dye did not violate the statute to the extent it found she did not physically enter the petitioners' property and cut down their valuable timber or cause the Petitioners' valuable timber to be cut, damaged or carried away. The Circuit Court's conclusions in this regard improperly, narrowly construed the scope of the statute and made improper factual findings over matters disputed by the record.

2. The Circuit Court of Marion County abused its discretion when it granted summary judgment in favor of Respondent Dye on the issue of negligence to the extent that it erroneously found that she owed no duty to the Petitioners to prevent the subject timber piracy, and where the factual record evinced that she caused and contributed to the same, directly or indirectly.

3. The Circuit Court of Marion County abused its discretion in granting summary judgment in favor of the Respondent Dye and against the Petitioners insofar as it improperly rendered factual conclusions concerning matters of disputed material fact in holding that Respondent Dye did not engage in the requisite level of conduct necessary for the imposition of punitive or exemplary damages.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### a. SUMMARY OF CASE

The Petitioners and Plaintiffs hereinbelow, Gregory S. Bradley and Judy Johnson Bradley, husband and wife, own a parcel of real property in rural Marion County, West Virginia. *Appx. pp.* 00031, 00245-00250. That property is landlocked. *See Id.* The Respondent and Defendant hereinbelow, Andrea Dale Dye, owns the parcel of property between the road and the Bradleys' property, down the hill from the Bradleys. *See Id.* Respondent Dye's property has a residential address of 1872 Flaggy Meadow Road, Mannington, West Virginia. *Appx. pp.* 00179, 00258-00260.

The Bradleys enjoy a right-of-way across the Respondent Dye's property to access the main roadway from their property. *Appx. 00031, 00250.* That right-of-way runs along a road that runs past Respondent Dye's house up the hill and is sometimes referenced by Respondent Dye as

the "gas line road" (since there is a gas well head on the Bradleys' property that services Respondent Dye's home) and referenced by the Bradleys as the "access road." *Appx. pp. 00031*, 00182, 00255, 00261. It is the sole means of ingress and egress for the Bradleys to the property. *Appx. 00031, 00250.* The access/gas line road leads across the Bradley property to a clearing on the Bradley property near where the gas well head sits. As such, there is no means of access from the aforementioned access road to the properties of any other adjoining landowners. *Appx. pp. 00193-00194.* The border of the Bradley and Dye properties is clearly designated on that access road by a cattle gate that runs across it. *Appx. p. 00013.* 

The Petitioners, Gregory S. Bradley and Judy Johnson Bradley, did not reside on the subject property. Instead, they purchased that property with the intent to timber it and planned to use the proceeds of the timber to either build a cabin on the property or make improvements to their residential home in Virginia. As such, they only occasionally visited the property. *Appx., p.* 00254.

The factual record suggests that, unbeknownst to the Bradleys, Respondent Dye was using the Bradleys' property without their authorization. The record evinces that the Dyes were entering the Bradleys' property to harvest firewood. *Appx., p. 00278.* Moreover, the record reveals that Respondent Dye may have been using the Bradleys' property and exercising control over it because she mistakenly believed that she owned it. *Id.* Respondent, Andrea Dale Dye, claimed in her deposition that she was not familiar with the boundaries of her property lines, never walked the lines, and doesn't know where her property stops, and the property of other neighbors' properties begin. *Appx., pp. 00181, 00263-00264, 00268.* Despite being unaware of whether the property was hers, Respondent Dye, nevertheless, admitted in her deposition that she went past the cattle gate separating the properties and placed "No Trespassing" signs about the property.

Appx., pp. Id., p. 00257. This would have placed Respondent Dye on the Bradleys' property by her own admission. Respondent Dye, admitted to erecting approximately 10 to 15 of these "No Trespassing" signs on the Bradleys' property. Appx., pp. 00181, 00263-00264, 00268. She testified that she went through the cattle gate separating her property from the Bradleys' property and "just put signs here and there just to try to keep people out." Id. Some of those "No Trespassing" signs expressly identified her as the owner of the Bradley property and further identified the residential mailing address for the Bradley property as her own - 1872 Flaggy Meadow Road, Mannington, West Virginia. Appx., pp. 00271-00273, 00257. When she was asked in her deposition how she knew that she was putting those "No Trespassing" signs on her own property, she testified that she was not certain of the same and that, "I just assumed I was." Appx. p. 00268. There is no evidence that the Bradleys provided Respondent Dye with written or oral permission to enter upon their property for her own personal use and they certainly did not authorize her to post the property with her name and address. In addition to posting the property with her name and address, Respondent Dye also removed the cattle gate that separated the Bradleys' property from hers. Appx., pp. 00270. This would have further made it appear that Respondent Dye's property and the Bradleys' property were one in the same. Appx. pp. 00268-00270. All of these activities on the Bradley property were done without notice to the Bradleys.

Further unbeknownst to the Bradleys, Respondent Dye began dealing with a logging company, underlying co-defendants, Larry and Robert Jones d/b/a Jones Hauling, regarding the brokering of a deal for the harvesting of timber in or about the property. As part of these dealings, Respondent Dye granted an oral and/or written easement to the Jones defendants permitting them use the gas road/access road that led onto Bradleys' property. *Appx. pp 00031, 00264*. In fact, she took the cattle gate down separating the Bradley property from the Dye property so that the same

would not have to be reopened each time the Jones defendants utilized it. *Appx. p. 00270.* Thus, it cannot be disputed that Respondent Dye permitted the Jones defendants access to the Bradleys' property *vis-à-vis* the right-of-way whether she knew it or not. Of course, Respondent Dye asserts that she only allowed the Jones defendants to cross through or upon property that belonged to her. However, those claims are grounded in her ignorance of the actual boundaries separating her property from that of the Bradleys. In fact, she testified that she was assuming that property belonging to the Bradleys leading up the access road to the gas well head and/or surrounding it belonged to her based upon representations she claims were made to her by the Nedleys who sold her the 1872 Flaggy Meadow Road property back in 2010. *Appx. pp. 00264-00265, 00274.* However, this is not true.

In addition to improperly permitting the Jones defendants to access the Bradleys' property, Respondent Dye also brokered her own deal to profit off of harvested timber from the property. Respondent Dye entered into a written contract with co-defendants, Larry Jones and Roberta J. Jones. *Appx. pp. 00275-00276.* The contract expressly indicated that it created a "partnership" between Respondent Dye and the Jones defendants. *See Id., paragraph 1.* Pursuant to the general terms of the contract, Respondent Dye provided access to real property and timber upon the property, while the Jones defendants provided their equipment and expertise in harvesting and selling raw timber, for the purposes of brokering harvested timber to third-parties, such as mills. *See Id., generally.* Pursuant to the terms of the subject contract, Respondent Dye would receive 33% of the fair market value of harvested valuable timber, while the Jones defendants would receive 67% of the fair market value of the harvested valuable timber. *See Id.* 

Unbeknownst to the Petitioners, Gregory S. Bradley and Judy Johnson Bradley, the Jones defendants, with permission of entry from Respondent Dye did trespass upon the plaintiffs' lands

and remove from the property almost three hundred valuable trees without the permission of the plaintiffs, written or otherwise. *Appx., pp. 00062-00144*. The Petitioners suffered a loss of timber totaling approximately \$25,420.49 (or \$76,261.47 under the treble damages provision of **W.Va**. **Code § 61-3-48a**) as a result. *See Id., Appx. p. 63*. The Jones defendants, who were improperly permitted entry by Respondent Dye, also caused damage to trees and brush on the Bradleys' property that were not harvested; left their equipment, waste, and supplies on the subject property after the timber trespass; made roads/skid roads on the subject property and cut down additional trees and brush to gain access to valuable trees and left them there; made a trench on the plaintiffs property and/or caused slips and flooding on the plaintiffs' property due to their activities on the plaintiffs' land; and caused such additional damages to the same. *See Id.; see Appx. pp. 00145-00164*. The Petitioners additionally suffered total property damages and restoration costs of approximately \$98,972.00 as a result of the actions of Respondent Dye and the Jones defendants. *Appx., pp. 00147-00151*.

It is undisputed that neither Respondent Dye, nor the Jones defendants, were provided written permission (or any permission) to enter the Bradleys' property and harvest valuable timber. However, the Jones defendants asserted in a statement provided to the Court purporting to be an Answer to the Complaint that they were told by Respondent, Andrea Dale Dye, that she owned the Bradley property stating, "I have all my employees or workers, that can testify she said she owned it. Any they will." *Appx. pp., 00051-00059*. The Jones defendants further asserted that "Andrea Dye said she was sure she owned it and she would take care of it. She would stand 100 % legally responsible if she was wrong." *See Id.* Moreover, the Jones defendants claimed that Respondent Dye set the property lines and that they were to stay in the boundaries she set. *Appx., pp. 00051, 00055*. The erection of the unauthorized "No Trespassing" signs on the Bradley property by

Respondent Dye and upon which she wrote her name and address would have corroborated the Jones defendants' assertions in this regard. *Appx, pp. 268, 271-273*.

In the Summer of 2017, the Petitioners, Gregory S. Bradley and Judy Johnson Bradley, arrived at their property for a random visit. They were shocked to discover that their property was occupied by logging equipment, as well as extensive waste and damages to the premises from logging operations. They also noticed that numerous valuable trees had been removed from their property. *Appx.*, *pp.* 00254-00256.

The Petitioners, Gregory S. Bradley and Judy Johnson Bradley, angered and distressed by their findings, immediately contacted local law enforcement and/or the W.Va. Division of Natural Resources to report their damages and the equipment, waste, and supplies found on the property. Appx., p. 278. The W.Va. Division of Natural Resources, Officer Jeremiah S. Clark, conducted an investigation of the timber theft against the Bradleys. Id. Officer Clark inspected the Bradleys' property and found that it had, in fact, been recently logged. Id. He observed posted signs on the Bradley property containing Respondent Dye's name and address on them. Id. Officer Clark also found equipment, waste, and supplies on the plaintiffs' property which he concluded were left by the Jones defendants. Id. Officer Clark's investigation further revealed some additional surprising facts. He interviewed Respondent Dye's aunt about the Bradleys' complaint. Id. She told Officer Clark that her niece [Respondent Dye] owned the Bradley property. Id. She also admitted the subject property been logged in the year prior. Id. Officer Clark's investigation further revealed that the Dyes had been going onto the Bradley property with a lawn mower and trailer and harvesting the Bradleys fallen trees and limbs for their own use as firewood. Id. Officer Clark's investigation lastly revealed that Respondent Dye had received over Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) in payments from the Jones defendants from the subject timber harvesting enterprise. *Appx., pp. 00279-00286* 

As a result of the investigation, the W.Va. Division of Natural Resources, by Officer Clark, ordered the Jones defendants to remove their equipment, waste, and supplies from the Bradleys' property, which they allegedly did in part. *Appx., p. 278.* After being instructed that the Dyes were trespassing onto the Bradley property and using it for their own benefit, such as harvesting firewood, the Bradleys set up a trail camera on their property. The Bradleys' trail camera revealed that, even after the W.Va. Division of Natural Resources investigated this timber trespass, trespasses on the property continued. *Appx., pp 00287-00292*.

Officer Clark had advised the Bradleys that their matter was a civil one. Accordingly, the Petitioners hired counsel. The Petitioners, by counsel notified Respondent Dye of their timber piracy claim. *Appx., pp. 00029, 00032.* After doing so, Respondent Dye blocked the right-of-way road leading to the Petitioners' property denying them access to the same. *Appx. 00027-00034.* As a result, the Bradleys were compelled to file the underlying civil action in the Circuit Court of Marion County, seeking recovery of damages for the timber theft by Respondent Dye and the Jones defendants, property damages, and other general and/or special damage caused to them. The Petitioners also sought an injunction from the Circuit Court to prevent the continued blocking of their access road.

#### **b. RELEVANT PROCEEDINGS AND RULINGS BELOW**

The Petitioners and Plaintiffs hereinbelow, Gregory S. Bradley and Judy Johnson Bradley, filed their *Complaint* with the Circuit Court of Marion County on July 25, 2018 against defendants Andrea Dale Dye, and Larry Jones and Roberta Jones d/b/a Jones Hauling, seeking recovery for a timber piracy and property damages resultant from the same. *Appx.*, *pp.* 00023-00025.

Contemporaneously with the filing of the Complaint, the Petitioners filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction seeking a Court order commanding the Respondent, Andrea Dale Dye to cease and desist blocking the Petitioners' sole access their property by blocking off the subject right-of-way road. Appx., pp. 00027-00034. On August 30, 2018, Respondent and defendant hereinbelow, Andrea Dale Dye, filed Defendant Andrea Dale Dye's Answer and Affirmative Defenses to Plaintiffs' Complaint and Crossclaim Against All Other Defendants, Appx., pp. 00036-00047. On October 1, 2018, an Agreed Order Regarding Plaintiffs' Motion for Preliminary Injunction was entered granting the Petitioners request for injunction. Appx., pp. 00049-00050. On October 22, 2018, insurer for the Respondent, Andrea Dale Dye, Intervenor hereinbelow, Farmers & Mechanics Mutual Insurance Company of West Virginia, filed a Motion to Intervene seeking to file a third-party complaint for declaratory judgment on issues of insurance coverage. Appx., p. 00328. On December 11, 2018, a signed statement was filed by pro se defendants, Larry and Robert Jones, purporting to be an Answer. Appx., pp. 00051-00054. On December 13, 2018, a copy of the signed statement filed by pro se defendants, Larry and Robert Jones, that was served upon Petitioners' counsel was filed with the Court. Appx., pp. 00055-00059. On February 19, 2019, the Court entered an Agreed Order Granting Farmers & Mechanics Mutual Insurance Company of West Virginia's Motion to Intervene. Appx. p. 00328. On February 19, 2019, Intervenor hereinbelow, Farmers & Mechanics Mutual Insurance Company of West Virginia, filed its Third-Party Complaint for Declaratory Judgment. Appx. p. 00328. An Answer to the same was filed by Respondent Dye and the Petitioners on March 7, 2019 and March 14, 2019, respectively. Appx., pp. 00328-00329. On October 1, 2019, Intervenor hereinbelow, Farmers & Mechanics Mutual Insurance Company of West Virginia, filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on various coverage issues. Appx., p. 330. The aforesaid Motion was fully briefed by all parties.

Id. On January 9, 2020, the Circuit Court denied Intervenor Farmers & Mechanics Mutual Insurance Company of West Virginia's Motion for Summary Judgment and actually entered declaratory judgment against the Intervenor on numerous issues of coverage for the claims against Respondent Dye. Appx., p. 00331. On October 9, 2020, Defendant Andrea Dale Dye's Motion for Summary Judgment Against Plaintiffs with supporting documentation. Appx., pp. 00161-00207. On December 28, 2020, Plaintiffs' Response in Opposition to Defendant Andrea Dale Dye's Motion for Summary Judgment with supporting documentation was filed. Appx., pp. 00268-00292. On January 20, 2021, Defendant Andrea Dale Dye's Reply to Plaintiffs' Response in Opposition to Defendant Andrea Dale Dye's Motion for Summary Judgment Against Plaintiffs. Appx., pp. 00293-00324. On January 25, 2021, oral argument was held on the aforesaid Motion as well as some additional motions. Appx., p. 00336. The parties submitted proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding said Motion. On March 17, 2021, the Circuit Court entered a variation of the proposed order submitted by. Respondent Dye as its Order Granting Defendants' [sic] Motion for Summary Judgment Against Plaintiffs. Appx., pp. 00001-00021. It is from this Order the Petitioners appeal.

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Marion County in its March 17, 2021 Order committed error in granting Respondent Dye's Motion for Summary Judgment Against Plaintiffs. The Circuit Court improperly and narrowly construed W.Va. Code § 61-3-48a in its application to the underlying timber theft. W.Va. Code § 61-3-48a is a strict liability remedial statute that should have been liberally construed by the Circuit Court to effectuate its intended purpose of providing full compensation to the Bradleys, rather narrowly construing the same to protect a landowner who was unjustly enriched by her false claim to their property. The Circuit Court further committed

error by failing to recognize that Respondent Dye owed the Bradleys multiple legal duties including, but not limited to, duties to refrain from causing injury to their property generally, to refrain from trespassing on their property, to refrain from exercising control over their property or misrepresenting ownership of their property, to refrain from converting their trees to profit for her benefit, and/or to refrain from acts and/or omissions that caused the Jones defendants to harm the Bradleys' property. The factual record evinces that Respondent Dye violated multiple legal duties owed toward the Bradleys, caused or contributed to the Jones defendants' violations of the same, and/or that she is vicariously liable for the harm caused by Jones defendants. Lastly, the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment on the Petitioners' claim for punitive damages against Respondent Dye, when the factual record evinced that her conduct may meet the applicable standards for the same and/or insofar as she may be vicariously liable for the imposition of the same against the Jones defendants.

As this Court will see, the aforementioned errors by the Circuit Court were, in part, caused by the Circuit Court's adoption of a favored set of facts in the case. The Circuit Court abused its discretion in rendering its decisions in its March 17, 2021 *Order* by adopting the deposition testimony and positions of Respondent Dye as the facts of the case when her self-serving testimony was contradicted or disputed by other facts in the record. It is fundamental condition precedent for granting a motion for summary judgment that the relevant material facts are not in dispute. In fact, that principal is so axiomatic that the Courts of this State have held that "[s]ummary judgment should be denied 'even where there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts in the case but only as to the conclusions to be drawn therefrom.' "<u>Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.</u>, 194 W.Va. 52, 59, **459** S.E.2d 329, 336 (1995) (quoting <u>Pierce v. Ford Motor Co.</u>, 190 F.2d 910, 915 (4th Cir.1951)). By adopting a favored set of factual conclusions and inferences, the Circuit Court invaded the province of the jury. The result of that abuse of discretion is a decision where a victim of timber piracy in West Virginia is left without the ability to seek compensation from a benefactor of the timber theft, who not only profited from the illegal harvesting of timber, but may also be directly responsible for causing the same.

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