IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 21-0313

SEP OF APPEALS

EDYTHE NASH
SUPREME COU

GREGORY S. BRADLEY and JUDY JOHNSON BRADLEY,

Petitioners,

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

v.

Marion Co. Civil Action No. 18-C-110 Hon. Patrick N. Wilson, Circuit Judge

ANDREA DALE DYE, LARRY JONES, JR., and ROBERTA J. JONES, Individually and d/b/a JONES HAULING, and OTHER UNKNOWN DEFENDANTS,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT ANDREA DALE DYE'S BRIEF

Counsel for Respondent Andrea Dale Dye:

James W. Marshall, III, Esq. (WV Bar #10677) BAILEY & WYANT, PLLC 115 West King Street Martinsburg, West Virginia 25401 (304) 901-2000

Daniel T. LeMasters, Esq. (WV Bar #12021)
BAILEY & WYANT, PLLC

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court did not err in granting Respondent's *Motion for Summary Judgment* against Plaintiffs. The factual record before the Circuit Court and this Honorable Court establishes that the Circuit Court's March 17, 2021 *Order* granting Respondent's *Motion for Summary Judgment*

against Plaintiffs should be <u>affirmed</u>. The factual record establishes that Petitioners' lack evidence to support their claims against the Respondent.

The only evidence in the factual record before the Circuit Court regarding Respondent's involvement with co-Defendants' timbering activities are the Contract, the right-of-way agreement, and Respondent's deposition testimony. Petitioners have no knowledge or evidence of Respondent removing timber from Petitioners' property or otherwise allegedly directing co-Defendants to remove timber from any property other than her own. Petitioners have no first-hand knowledge of the person(s) that removed the timber from the property. No witness offered any evidence by way of testimony, affidavits or otherwise of first-hand knowledge of the alleged timber trespass on Petitioners' property. Larry Jones and Roberta Jones never testified to, affirmed, verified, or authenticated the asserted letter/answer that Petitioners appear to almost entirely base their appeal upon. Again, this document is inadmissible and insufficient to overcome summary judgment.

Additionally, there is no evidentiary support in the record demonstrating a genuine issue of material fact for Petitioners' claims against Respondent to survive summary judgment. The factual record conclusively shows that Respondent did not violate West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a because she didn't physically enter the land or premises of Petitioners to cut, damage or carry away any timber, trees, or logs or cause any timber, trees, or logs to be cut, damaged, or carried away from Petitioners' property. Respondent's testimony establishes these facts, and Petitioners failed to put forth any evidence to dispute it. In making this finding, the Circuit Court did not improperly, narrowly construe West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a. The Circuit Court's Order makes it evident that it considered whether Respondent physically entered Petitioners' property as well as whether Respondent caused co-Defendants to cut, damage or carry away any timber, trees, or logs from Petitioners' property.

Even if Petitioners establish that Co-Defendants' committed the timber trespass on their property, Respondent cannot be vicariously or jointly liable for co-Defendants' alleged actions. Respondent entered into the Contract with co-Defendants to timber her property. The Contract does not create a partnership. Furthermore, Respondent's actions do not create a partnership, joint venture, or principle-agency relationship with co-Defendants. The record establishes that Respondent didn't direct or control co-Defendants' actions. The record establishes that Respondent didn't enter into a business relationship with co-Defendants to split profits. Respondent entered into the Contract to sell certain trees from her property for a price based off of the percentage value received from the trees removed. The Circuit Court correctly found that Respondent is not vicariously or jointly liable for co-Defendants' alleged actions as the record establishes that she did not enter into a partnership, joint venture, or principle-agent relationship with co-Defendants.

The Circuit Court also properly found that the record establishes that Respondent did not owe Petitioners a duty, and Petitioners failed to establish a duty was owed even through their newly asserted statutory violations. The factual record conclusively establishes that Respondent did not violate West Virginia Code § 61-3-33, West Virginia Code § 20-2-9, and West Virginia Code § 61-3-30. Respondent never damaged, destroyed, and/or defaced Petitioners' property as is required by these statutes. Respondent never willfully posted Petitioners' property with no trespassing signs resulting in damages. Even if a duty was owed, the Circuit Court correctly found that Petitioners' negligence claim failed against Respondent because Petitioners failed to put forth any genuine issue of material fact to show that Respondent's actions brought forth their damages.

Finally, the Circuit Court properly found that the record establishes that Respondent did not commit any intentional acts or willful, wanton, or reckless conduct. Respondent entered into the Contract for timbering to be conducted on her property. The factual record establishes that

Respondent did not direct co-Defendants where to timber. It establishes that Respondent did not misrepresent her property or anyone else's property to co-Defendants. It also establishes that Respondent did not control co-Defendants' actions to allegedly convert Petitioners' property for her gain as Petitioners allege.

The Circuit Court reviewed all the evidence in this case, all issues were fully briefed, and the Circuit Court correctly ruled, after a full review of the pleadings and arguments of counsel, that summary judgment was appropriate.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, oral argument of this matter is not required because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument as this action does not present any new or novel issues.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal, the standard of review for a trial court's decision on a motion for summary judgment is *de novo*. *L&D Invs.*, *Inc. v. Mike Ross, Inc.*, 818 S.E.2d 872, 878 (W. Va. 2018) (*citing* Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994)). In regard to defeating a Motion for Summary Judgment, this Court holds:

If the moving party makes a properly supported motion for summary judgment and can show by affirmative evidence that there is no genuine issue of a material fact, the burden of production shifts to the nonmoving party who must either (1) rehabilitate the evidence attacked by the moving party, (2) produce additional evidence showing the existence of a genuine issue for trial, or (3) submit an affidavit explaining why further discovery is necessary as provided in Rule 56(f) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

Syl. Pt. 3, Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W.Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995). The Court further noted that "[t]he evidence illustrating the factual controversy cannot be conjectural or problematic."

Williams, 194 W.Va. at 60, 459 S.E.2d at 337. To avoid summary judgment the plaintiff must offer concrete evidence upon which a reasonable finder of fact could return a favorable verdict. *Id.*

VI. ARGUMENT

1. The Circuit Court of Marion County did not err in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent Andrea Dale Dye on Petitioners' timber trespass claim pursuant to West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a.

In this matter, the affirmative evidence demonstrates Respondent never entered onto Petitioners' property to remove trees. JA at 200.5 Furthermore, the affirmative evidence demonstrates Respondent entered into the Contract with co-Defendants for the sale of her timber. JA at 201-203. The Contract clearly states co-Defendants are independent contractors who have personal knowledge of Respondent's property's boundary lines and covenanted not to cut any tree on land owned by other third parties over which a right of way has not been procured. JA at 201-203. Although she placed no trespassing signs along an easement road leading up to a gas well, Petitioners' offer no evidence demonstrating co-Defendants relied on these no-trespassing signs when removing trees resulting in the alleged timber trespass on Petitioners' property. JA at 182; 271-273. As such, Petitioners offer no evidence that Respondent caused co-Defendants to remove trees from the Petitioners' property, or that she can be jointly liable for Co-Defendants' timbering operation.

A. The Circuit Court's Order establishes that it did not improperly, narrowly construe West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a. The Circuit Court correctly found that Respondent did not violate West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a and Petitioners failed to put forth a genuine issue of material fact to establish that she did or that she was liable for the alleged acts of co-Defendants.

"The primary object in construing a statute is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the

⁵ Petitioners contend in their opening brief that the Respondent personally harvested firewood and trail cameras indicate she continued to trespass on the property. However, the DNR report states a "family member" was pulling firewood by a lawn mower. JA at 278. Furthermore, the individuals in the trail camera photos referenced by Petitioners as evidence of Respondent's trespass are actually unidentified and are likely the very trespassers the

Legislature." Div. of Justice & Cmty. Servs. v. Fairmont State Univ., 836 S.E.2d 456, 463 (W. Va. 2019); quoting, Syl. Pt. 1, Smith v. State Workmen's Comp. Comm'r., 219 S.E.2d 361 (W. Va. 1975). "[C]ourts must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there." Div. of Justice & Cmty. Servs., supra; quoting, Martin v. Randolph Cyt. Bd. of Educ., 465 S.E.2d 399, 414 (W. Va. 1995). "Where the language of a statute is free from ambiguity, its plain meaning is to be accepted and applied without resort to interpretation." Div. of Justice & Cmty. Servs., supra; quoting, Syl. Pt. 2, Crockett v. Andrews, 172 S.E.2d 384 (W. Va. 1970). West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a states, in pertinent part, that:

Any person who enters upon the land or premises of another without written permission from the owner of the land or premises in order to cut, damage or carry away or cause to be cut, damaged or carried away, any timber, trees, logs, posts, fruit, nuts, growing plant or product of any growing plant, shall be liable to the owner in the amount of three times the value of the timber, trees, growing plants or products thereof, which shall be in addition to and notwithstanding any other penalties by law provided.

W. Va. Code § 61-3-48a. Based upon the clear and unambiguous language of West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a, the Circuit Could correctly construed it and applied the record to it.

The Circuit Court recognized that West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a requires that Respondent "physically entered the land or premises of [Petitioners] to cut, damage or carry away or cause to be cut, damaged or carried away, any timber, trees, or logs." JA at 7. In addition, the Circuit Court gave consideration as to whether Respondent was in violation for causing the alleged timber theft. JA at 8. Specifically, the Circuit Court's Order states that:

There is no evidence in the record to put forth a genuine issue of material fact to support Plaintiffs' position that Defendant Jones Hauling, Inc., Defendant Larry Jones, Defendant Roberta Jones, and/or or the Co-Defendants' employees and/or agents relied upon any action of Defendant Dye to cause Defendant Jones Hauling, Inc., Defendant Larry Jones, Defendant Roberta Jones, and/or or the

Co-Defendants' employees and/or agents to cut, damage or carry away any timber, trees, or logs.

At the summary judgment stage, the Court cannot rely upon assumptions or what ifs as to what Defendant Jones Hauling, Inc., Defendant Larry Jones, Defendant Roberta Jones, and/or Co-Defendants' employees and/or agents may or may not have relied upon in committing their alleged violation of West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a. Rather, the Court must rely upon the facts developed within the record before it.

JA at 8 (emphasis added).

The Circuit Court's Order makes it evident that it did not improperly, narrowly construe West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a as Petitioners assert. The Circuit Court's Order also establishes that it didn't misapply rules of statutory construction. The Circuit Court did not construe West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a to require an intentional act, limit the types of damages permitted by the Statute, or limit the scope of it as Petitioners contend. The Circuit Court did not limit Petitioners from attempting to develop facts for their asserted claims pursuant to West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a. Rather, as shown herein, the Circuit Court correctly applied the law to the record before it, which establishes the Respondent did not cut, damage or carry away or cause to be cut, damaged or carried away any of Petitioners' timber. JA at 6-9.

B. The Circuit Court did not err in concluding that Respondent did not violate West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a. The factual record does not evince that Respondent is strictly liable for the alleged violation of West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a.

West Virginia Code § 61-3-48a states, in pertinent part, that:

Any person who enters upon the land or premises of another without written permission from the owner of the land or premises in order to cut, damage or carry away or cause to be cut, damaged or carried away, any timber, trees, logs, posts, fruit, nuts, growing plant or product of any growing plant, shall be liable to the owner in the amount of three times the value of the timber, trees, growing plants or products thereof, which shall be in addition to and notwithstanding any other penalties by law provided.

W. Va. Code § 61-3-48a. As previously shown, the Circuit Court did not limit its finding that

Respondent did not violate the Statue due to not entering Petitioners' property. JA at 7-8. Rather, the Circuit Court correctly found that Respondent didn't physically enter the land or premises of Petitioners to cut, damage or carry away any timber, trees, or logs. JA at 7. The Circuit Court also correctly found that Respondent didn't cause any timber, trees, or logs to be cut, damaged, or carried away from Petitioners' property. JA at 7-8. The record establishes that Circuit Court did not err. JA at 6-9.

The record establishes that Respondent never entered upon Petitioners' property to cut, damaged, or carried away any timber or trees. JA at 5; 185-186. Petitioner Gregory Bradley even testified that he believes Respondent did not engage in such acts. JA at 5; 200. When specifically asked whether he thought Respondent physically went on to his property and cut down trees, Plaintiff Gregory Bradley testified "Oh, absolutely not." *See Id*.

Additionally, the record establishes that Respondent did not cause Petitioners' timber to be cut, damaged, or carried away. JA at 3-5. The Contract does not render Respondent liable as Petitioners assert. The Contract was for timbering solely on Respondent's property. JA at 3; 201-203. The Contract only permitted co-Defendants to cut Respondent's trees on Respondent's property, which co-Defendants were responsible for determining. JA at 201. Additionally, it is undisputed that Respondent did not have control over co-Defendants' actions just like the other landowners whose land was timbered. JA at 4-5; 187; 201-203. Respondent did not give permission to cut timber on any other properties or access any other properties. JA at 4; 201-203; 183.

Furthermore, the record does not evince that Respondent asserted control over Petitioners' property. See Id. Nor did she mislead or misrepresent to co-Defendants that she owned Petitioners'

property. JA at 4; 184.⁶ Respondent did not designate her property's boundaries to co-Defendants. JA at 4-5; 184; 186. Respondent did not control co-Defendants' actions. JA at 4; 187. Respondent did not direct co-Defendants where to timber. JA at 4; 187. These are indisputable facts from the actual record. JA at 3-5. The fact that she did not know her boundary lines in and of itself is not evidence that she told co-Defendants she owned Petitioners' property. There is no evidence to support Petitioner's argument that Respondent directed or otherwise caused co-Defendants to allegedly remove the timber from Petitioner's property.

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